## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

DUANE OWEN,	*
	*
Appellant,	*
	*
VS.	*
	*
STATE OF FLORIDA,	*
	*
Appellee.	*
	*
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	*

CASE NO. SC95526

#### **APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF**

MICHAEL DUBINER, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 265381

MARK WILENSKY, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 290221

DUBINER & WILENSKY, P.A. Attorneys for Duane Owen Northbridge Centre, Suite 325 515 North Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, Florida 33401-4349 (561) 655-0150

## **

#### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

Appellant was the Defendant and Appellee was the prosecution in the lower tribunal. In this Brief, the parties will be referred to as they appeared before the lower tribunal.

The record volume will be referred to by Roman numerals. The page number will be referred to by Arabic numerals. The supplemental record on appeal will be designated by the symbol "SR" followed by the page number.

In accord with the Florida Supreme Court Administrative Order, issued on July 13, 1998, and modeled after Rule 28-2(d), Rules of the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, counsel for Appellant hereby certifies that the instant brief has been prepared with 14 point Times New Roman type, a font that is spaced proportionately.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 11, 1984, the grand jury indicted the defendant for first degree murder in Count I, sexual battery with a deadly weapon or physical force likely to cause serious personal injury in Count II, and burglary of a dwelling while armed with a dangerous weapon in Count III. Trial commenced on January 4, 1999. (XXXII, 1343). The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged as to first degree murder and burglary of a dwelling while armed with a dangerous weapon, and of guilty to the lesser charge of attempted sexual battery with a deadly weapon or by use of great force. (LX, 6113-6114).

On March 4, 1999, after a penalty phase hearing, the jury returned an advisory verdict recommending that the defendant be sentenced to death, by a vote of ten to two. (LXI, 6897). On March 23, 1999, the lower tribunal sentenced the defendant to death with regard to the first degree murder charge, to 15 years in the Department of Corrections with regard to the sexual battery charge, and to life imprisonment with regard to the burglary charge. (LXV, 6993-7025). The defendant's motion to correct sentence was heard by the court on April 26, 1999, and denied. (LXV, 728-730).

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

#### **GUILT PHASE**

In the early morning hours of March 25, 1984, Major Richard Lincoln arrived at 1221 Harbor Drive, Delray Beach, Florida, to investigate a homicide. (LI, 4540-4546). Lincoln entered the residence through the front door and saw sizeable amount of blood and blood trail evidence that indicated a path to the master bedroom area at the back of the home. (LI, 4544). Lincoln observed a hammer found in the master bedroom and footprints on the floor. (LI, 4547-4549). At the end of the hallway, within the entrance of the master bedroom, the body of Karen Slattery was observed, partially clothed and with a towel over her head. (LI, 4552-4553). The underwear and the shorts of the decedent had been removed, and her bra and her shirt were pushed upward exposing her breasts. (LI, 4558). Lincoln testified that the blood trail that was observed within the scene was consistent with the body having been dragged by her feet. (LI, 4558-4559). A window was open in the master bedroom and a screen had been cut. The front windows of the house were open, without window coverings of any sort. (LI, 4573). Frank Pellegrinni was a crime scene officer with the Delray Beach Police Department in March, 1984. (LI, 4594). He was working in the early morning hours of March 25, 1984, and was assigned to the crime scene. (LI, 4595). He observed blood, a hammer, and a body at the scene. (LI, 4596). Pellegrinni

recovered items of the victim's clothing. (LI, 4603, 4605, 4606). He recovered a claw hammer from the residence in the master bedroom. (LI, 4609-4611). Pellegrinni knew of no items alleged to have been stolen from the home. (LI, 4615-4616).

William Helm was the owner of the house at 1221 Harbor Drive. (LI, 4637). On March 24, 1984, Helm and his wife went out for the evening and left their two children with Karen Slattery, who was babysitting for them. (LI, 4637). Slattery had babysat for the Helms before, was considered reliable, and had never invited unauthorized persons to the home while she was babysitting. (LI, 4638). Helm and his wife returned to the home just after midnight on March 25, 1984. (LI, 4639). He noticed only one light was on in the living room, which he termed to be unusual. (LI, 4639). There were no window coverings on the windows in the front of the home and anyone from the street could see in. (LI, 4640). As Helm and his wife walked into the door, they called for Karen Slattery. (LI, 4642). They saw her shoes near the kitchen area (LI, 4642), and saw a large pool of blood leading back to the master bedroom. (LI, 4643). The master bedroom door was closed, which was extremely unusual (LI, 4643), and there was a light on in the bedroom. (LI, 4644). The children's room door was closed, which Helm said was unusual when Karen was babysitting. (LI, 4644). Helm identified the hammer found in the master bedroom as his. (LI, 4645). When Helm left for the evening the hammer was in his tool box, which was kept closed in the

master bedroom closet. (LI, 4645-4646). In his bedroom ,Helms noticed that the telephone cord was twisted around one of the knobs of the chest of drawers (LI, 4647), dirt on the bedspread and pillow of the bed (LI, 4648), and the screen from the window in the bedroom having been cut. (LI, 4649). He identified red stains on the bedspread, which did not exist when he and his wife went out the evening. (LI, 4649-4650).

There were two rugs in the master bathroom, one of which had a red stain on it and the other of which was pushed together. (LI, 4651-4652). They did not appear like that when Helm left for the evening. (LI, 4652). A used towel was in the bathroom, which was not there when they went out for the evening. (LI, 4653). A sliding glass door in the master bedroom which was normally closed had been opened and was left open. (LI, 4653-4654). No person other than Karen Slattery had permission to be in the Helm house that night. (LI, 4656). Helm identified Karen Slattery from a photograph. (LI, 4657). As soon as Helm realized there was blood in the home, he instructed his wife to go next door and call the police. (LI, 4658-4659). As soon as the police arrived, he went into the bedrooms of his daughters and took them outside. (LI, 4659-4660). Both of the children had been sleeping. (LI, 4660).

Caroline Helm testified that when she and her husband were going out for the evening on March 24, 1984, they engaged the services of Karen Slattery as a babysitter. (LI, 4661-4662). The Helms left their home at about 6:30 p.m. and returned back slightly after midnight. (LI, 4663). She and her husband called for the babysitter when they arrived home and proceeded back into the kitchen and noticed there was a light on in the master bedroom. (LI, 4664). She noticed blood on the floor and her husband asked her to go next door to call the police. (LI, 4665). After the police came she noticed that a pair of deerskin gloves were missing from a pink satin lingerie case on the top shelf of her closet in the master bedroom. (LI, 4666). No person had permission to be in her home that night other than Karen Slattery. (LI, 4667).

David Little was a police officer with the Delray Beach Police Department in 1984. (LI, 4670). He participated in the investigation of the death of Karen Slattery. (LI, 4670). He arrived at the scene of the crime on the night it took place as a backup investigator. (LI, 4670-4671). On June 22, 1984, he was directed by Richard Lincoln to search an area of bushes directly east of Harbor Drive to look for clothing. (LI, 4672). He was assisted in that search by a number of other officers. (LI, 4672). In the bushes in the area in which he was searching, Little found two socks, a pair of gloves, and a pair of nylon gym shorts. (LI, 4708-4711). Before going to the scene,

on June 22, 1984, Little had been briefed about what to look for, and found that which he had been sent to retrieve.

Robert Tourville was a detective with the Delray Beach Police Department in March, 1984. (LI, 4683-4684). He searched with David Little in the bushes and hedge area. A pair of gloves, socks, and shorts were found in the bush area. (LI, 4695-4696).

Crime Scene Technician Kenneth Herndon testified that in 1984, he was a sworn officer with the Delray Beach Police Department. (LI, 4713-4715). As the supervisor of the crime scene and identification unit, he went to the Helm home to investigate the Slattery murder. (LI, 4716). He met Officer Pelligrinni outside the home and was taken to various areas, where he observed various items of evidence within the home. (LI, 4719-4723). He observed the body of Karen Slattery. (LI, 4723-4724). He noted the drag marks in the home (LI, 4726) and noted that he could look through the sliding glass door in the master bedroom all the way through to the living room, so long as the pocket door to the master bedroom was closed. (LII, 4727-4728). He noted that the lid of the toolbox in the master bedroom was open when he examined the scene. (LII, 4729-4730). As part of his investigation, Herndon collected the shirt and bra of Karen Slattery. (LII, 4731). He also testified that he collected other articles from around the house and preserved them for later testing. (LII, 4734-4740). Herndon noted bloody footprints in the house. There was no ridge detail in the footprints, which was consistent with somebody wearing something on his feet. (LII, 4751). An attempt was made to gain fingerprint evidence for what was determined to be the point of entry, but the only usable print turned out to belong one of the captains at the Delray Beach Police Department who had been at the crime scene. (LII, 4756-4757). There were no prints of Duane Owen at the crime scene. (LII, 4757-4763). There was a footprint found outside the home in a sandy area, but because of the area in which it was found the print could not be compared. (LII, 4769-4770).

Carolyn Slattery testified that she was the mother of the victim, who had been dropped off at the Helm's home at 6:30 p.m. on March 24, 1984. (LII, 4775-4776). At approximately 10:00 p.m. on that night, she spoke with Karen from the Helm home. (LII, 4776).

Richard Tanton testified that he was the Director of the crime laboratory at the Sheriff's office in Palm Beach County and had been since 1985. (4783-4786). In 1984 he was serologist at the laboratory. (LII, 4788). He tested Duane Owen and determined that because he was not a secreter, his blood type would not be identifiable in his semen or his saliva. (LII, 4793). He analyzed the underwear of Karen Slattery and determined that there was a blood stain. (LII, 4794). Semen was not found and the blood type was A, which is the same type as Karen Slattery. (4797-4798). Duane

Owen was determined to be blood type O (LII, 4931), and there was no indication that his blood type was found in any items examined by Tanton. (LII, 4932). There was semen involved discovered in the autopsy smears taken from Slattery. (LII, 4932-4933, 4934). Tanton went to the scene at 1221 Harbor Drive and conducted luminol tests. (LII, 4936). Blood was found in the footprint (LII, 4941) and was further found on the bottom of the socks that were recovered in June from the bushes near the scene. (LII, 4943-4944). There was also an indication of blood on the shorts found at the same place and time. (LII, 4945).

Dr. Frederick Hobin was an Associate Medical Examiner for Palm Beach County in March, 1984. (LII, 4822-4824). He went to the scene at approximately 2:30 a.m. on March 25, 1984, and observed that a young adolescent female had died a violent death at that location. (LII, 4825). He conducted a physical assessment to determine time of death and estimated that time of death was some time very close to 10:00 p.m. (LII, 4827-4829). He observed multiple cutting injuries on the body. (LII, 4829). Hobin conducted an autopsy examination on Karen Slattery and collected various samples from her body. (LII, 4838). He had already determined that semen existed on the body at the scene, and began his collection of materials there. (LII, 4939). Hobin collected semen from the body of Karen Slattery, and concluded an insemination into the vagina had occurred. (LII, 4851-4852). There were a total of 18 stabbing and cutting injuries on the body, including eight stab wounds on the back, four incise wounds on the neck, and additional stabbing injuries about the neck area. (LII, 4854). He estimated the depth of the stab wounds to the lungs to be three inches. (LII, 4865). Potentially, all of the stab wounds were lethal, although not necessarily immediately causing death. (LII, 4865). He determined that the cause of death was the cutting and stabbing injuries she had suffered. (LII, 4866). He determined that Karen Slattery had lost almost all of her blood volume. (LII, 4874). Dr. Hobin opined that it was highly unlikely that Karen Slattery would have been alive at the time that she was raped, and determined that the rape would have had to have occurred after she was dead. (LII, 4876).

On cross examination Dr. Hobin pointed out that there was furniture directly next to the area of the large pooling of blood which had not been disturbed. (LII, 4881). He again stated his opinion that when the sexual intercourse took place, the victim was already dead or, it was very highly probable that she was dead. (LII, 4883).

Dr. Cecilia Crouse, the supervisor of the serology/DNA section of the Palm Beach County Sheriff's Office Crime Laboratory testified as an expert in DNA identification. (LIII, 4983). She conducted DNA analysis on items relating to Duane Owen and Karen Slattery. She identified semen from the autopsy and blood from the Defendant. (LIII, 4994). She conducted DNA testing on the semen and the blood. Her testing indicated that the probability that a person other than Duane Owen had been the source of the semen recovered at the autopsy was one in every 690,000,000 Caucasian individuals, one in every 80,000,000 African American individuals, and one in every 300,000,000 Hispanic individuals. She admitted on cross examination that the purpose of DNA is to determine identity, and has no relevance to insanity. (LIII, 4999-5000).

Dr. Martin Tracy, Professor of Biological Sciences at Florida International University, testified as an expert in the area of population genetics. (LIII, 5009, 5014-5015). He testified that the comparison sample of the Palm Beach County Sheriff's Office was a scientifically valid database. (LIII, 5027-5028). He re-analyzed Dr. Crouse's work, and also determined that one person out of 690,000,000 in addition to Duane Owen would match the evidentiary or semen stain taken from Karen Slattery, as to Caucasians. He further testified that the odds for African American males was one in 80,000,000 and in Hispanics one person out of 300,000,000. (LIII, 5029).

John Brady was a police officer in the Palm Beach County area in 1984. (LIII, 5047-5048). On May 29, 1984, he explained a defendant's constitutional rights to the defendant. (LIII, 5049). Brady read the rights off of a standard issue rights sheet (LIII, 5047-5051), and the defendant indicated that he understood his rights both

verbally and in writing. (LIII, 5051). He signed the form in the name of Dana Brown. (LIII, 5051). Brady later learned that the defendant had entered the army under the name of Dana Brown. On cross examination, Brady admitted that at the time he spoke with the defendant he had admitted to a sexual problem. (LIII, 5054). Richard Lincoln was recalled to the stand and testified that on June 21, 1984, pursuant to court order, he went to the Palm Beach County Jail to get footprint standards from the defendant in order to compare those standards against the bloody footprints that were found at the scene. (LIII, 5058-5059). Lincoln also testified that he interviewed Duane Owen on that date. (LIII, 5065). There had not been any discussion of the Karen Slattery case at the time that the footprints were taken. (LIII, 5065). Lincoln later went back to see the defendant that night. (LIII, 5066).

Prior to trial, the defendant had filed a motion to suppress the statements given to Richard Lincoln. At the motion to suppress, Lincoln testified that he had coordinated the Slattery investigation. (XXVIII, 646-647). He had gone to the Palm Beach County Jail with Detective Mark Woods in order to interview the defendant with Woods. (XXVIII, 650-651). The defendant was read his rights by Detective Woods. (XXVIII, 651). He did not ask for a lawyer (XXVIII, 652), and did not object to Lincoln being in the room when Lincoln joined the interrogation. (XXVIII, 653). The defendant was asked by Lincoln whether he had selected the house where the attack

took place at random or for some reason in particular. (XXVIII, 654). His answer was that he would rather not talk about it. (XXVIII, 654). The defendant did not specifically say that he wanted to terminate the interview or ask for an attorney. (XXVIII, 655). Lincoln continued to talk with the defendant after the defendant indicated that he did not want to talk about it for an estimate of 10 minutes, during which time the defendant did not ask for an attorney and did not ask that the interview terminate. (XXVIII, 658-659). Lincoln claimed that the defendant responded to requests that were put to him by the officers (XXVIII, 659), until he was ultimately asked where he had left his bicycle before going into the house. (XXVIII, 659). The defendant then again advised Lincoln that he did not wish to talk about it (XXVIII, 659), but Lincoln continued to question him. The defendant never asked for a lawyer, for the detectives to leave the room or say specifically that he wanted to terminate the interview, in so many words. (XXVIII, 660).

On cross examination on the motion to suppress, Lincoln indicated that he was aware that on June 18, 1984, the defendant had told Detective Woods that there was nothing else to talk about in Delray Beach. (XXVIII, 667). Lincoln had told the defendant that the footprint that he had taken constituted conclusive evidence even though at that time he knew that the footprint did not. (XXVIII, 667). Lincoln was aware that at that time in order to make the Slattery case, he needed a confession from the defendant, and felt that the interview with the defendant at that time was the last opportunity for the police. (XXVIII, 668). Although the defendant had on occasion requested that the police come to see him, he had not requested the police come on June 21. (XXVIII, 671). Lincoln claimed not to be aware that the defendant had told an officer from the Boca Raton Police Department that he didn't want to talk anymore. (XXVIII, 672). Lincoln spoke to the defendant after the Boca Raton Police had spoken to him. (XXVIII, 675). They were investigating a Boca homicide which took place after the homicide that Lincoln was investigating. (XXVIII, 673).

Lincoln told the defendant that he should give a statement both because Lincoln had already developed conclusive evidence with regard to the footprint and for the sake of the community and the people involved in the crime. (XXVIII, 678). The very first time that Lincoln asked the defendant anything about the Slattery homicide, the defendant's response was, "I'd rather not talk about." (SR 6, 1096). Lincoln continued to question him about the house (SR6, 1097), but the defendant did not respond to questions about the house. He was eventually asked if he knew the owners of the home, and indicated that he did not. (SR6, 1110). Lincoln questioned the defendant about his bicycle, asking him where he put it. (XXVIII, 716). The defendant eventually told Lincoln "I don't want to talk about it." Lincoln also told the defendant that it didn't really matter what happened in the Slattery case, since he

couldn't be punished twice for the same thing. He was referring to the electric chair when he said that it didn't really matter if the defendant had two murder convictions or one, since he could only go to the electric chair once. (XXVIII, 722).

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