#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DUANE OWEN,

Appellant,

VS.

Case No. 95526

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CELIA A. TERENZIO
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR NO.0656879
1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD.
SUITE 300
WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409
(407) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I - The trial court denied properly appellant's claim that his confession was involuntary as Owen failed to bring forth any new evidence which warrant an exception to law of the case. Furthermore, the trial court correctly determined that appellant made an equivocal request to remain silent and therefore the police were not required to cease further questioning.

Issue II - Owen's sentence of death is proportional in light of the extensive evidence in aggravation compared to the mitigation which was rebutted by the state's evidence.

Issue III - Florida's death penalty scheme is not constitutionally suspect in light of <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>.

Issue IV - The "felony murder' aggaravator is constitutional

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS SINCE APPELLANT FAILED TO UNCOVER ANY NEW FACTS WHICH WOULD OVERCOME THE LAW OF THE CASE THAT THE CONFESSION WAS VOLUNTARY AND APPELLANT'S EQUIVOCAL STATEMENTS DID NOT AMOUNT TO AN INVOCATION OF SILENCE

In his initial brief, Appellant argues that his motion to suppress his confession should have been granted based on the following three reasons: (1) the video tapped confession reveals that the police, aware of Owen's past mental health issues, promised to provide medical intervention for his problems in exchange for a confession in the murder of Karen Slattery homicide; (2) Owen was allowed to visit with his brother provided he would later confess; and (3) Owen's two statements, "I don't want to talk about it" and "I'd rather not talk about it" demonstrate a clear and unequivocal invocation of his right to remain silent. (Vol. XVI, ROA Vol. 3019-3026). Initial brief at 49-52. In denying relief, the trial court found that appellant failed to overcome the law of the case doctrine on any of these claims After reviewing the video tapped confession, the records on appeal, the court determined that the confession was voluntary. Owen was given Miranda warnings on at least fifteen occasions and in light of all the testimony it is clear that the confession was voluntary. (Vol. XXXII T 1329-1330).

The trial court also found that Owen's statements to police were not unequivocal requests to remain silent. Rather reading extensively from this Court's most recent opinion in the instant case, the court determined that Owen's statements were equivocal. (Vol. XXXII T 1329-1335). A review of the record below establishes that the trial court's rulings were correct.

The following standards of review apply to appellant's relitigation of this issue. First, "[i]t is the general rule in Florida that all questions of law which have been decided by the highest appellate court become the law of the case which, except in extraordinary circumstances, must be followed in subsequent proceedings, both in the lower and the appellate courts." Brunner Enterprize., Inc. v. Department of Revenue, 452 So. 2d 550, 552 (Fla. 1984). Second, even if appellant is able to overcome the law of the case doctrine, the trial court's denial of the motion comes to this court clothed with a presumption of correctness. This Court, as a reviewing Court must interpret the evidence and all reasonable inferences and deductions in a manner most favorable to the trial court's ruling. San Martin <u>v. State</u>, 717 So. 2d 462 (Fla. 1998); <u>Rolling v. State</u>, 695 So. 2d 278 (Fla. 1997)(same). Applying these standards to the evidence adduced at the suppression hearing, appellant is not entitled to relief.

Prior to commencement of the suppression hearing the trial court determined that the law of the case doctrine precluded litigation of any issue regarding voluntariness. The only issue before the court would be the equivocal/unequivocal nature of Owen's statements pursuant to <a href="Davis v. United State">Davis v. United State</a>, 512 U.S. 452 (1994). In response, appellant counsel stated, If we were going to do it the same way it was done before when it was denied, I don't think we would be here. So, obviously, I intend to do things differently that [what] was done before." (Vol. XXVIII T 642). However, appellant's attempts "to do things differently" was not sufficient to overcome the law of the case doctrine in the instant case.

Relitigation of the voluntariness of Owen's confession was held on the motion on October 16, 1998. (Vol. XXVIII T 622-1325). Richard Lincoln, who headed the investigation into Ms. Slattery's murder was the first to testify at the motion to suppress. (Vol. XXVIII T 646). Lincoln spoke to Owen on June 18<sup>th</sup>, June 20<sup>th</sup> and June 21<sup>st</sup>. (Vol. XXVIII T 648, 653). Lincoln never promised Owen anything nor did he threaten him. (Vol. XXVIII T 660-661, 665). Owen received his Miranda warnings prior to confessing on the 21<sup>st</sup>. (Vol. XXVIII T 675). Lincoln listed for Owen the evidence that the police had. (Vol. XXVIII

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> However, the court afforded appellant the opportunity to over come law of the case on any issue and invited appellant to proffer any arguments for review. (Vol. XXVIII T 640-643).

T 676, 67-678, 690-701). Lincoln purposely flattered Owen in an effort to get him to confess. (Vol. XXVIIIT 679).

Lincoln explained that when Owen made the first statement that "I don't want to talk about it" it was made in response to Lincoln's question regarding why Owen picked the house that he did. (Vol. XXVIII T 654). Lincoln testified that he just asked questions about other topics. (Vol. XXVIII T 658). Owen never asked to terminate the interview. (Vol. XXVIII T 655, 727). Approximately ten minutes later, Lincoln asked Owen were he had placed his bike during the murder. Owen said "I don't want to talk about it." (Vol. XXVIII T 659-660, 716, 719). Again Owen did not ask to terminate the interview. (Vol. XXVIII T 660, 662).

The next witness to testify was Detective Marc Woods. Woods, a detective for the Delray Beach police, met Owen for the first time in 1982. (Vol. XXVIII T 731). Woods had charged Owen with indecent exposure. Based on the nature of the charge, Wood recommended that appellant participate in a treatment program offered for sex offenders. (Vol. XXVIII T 735-738). Woods viewed his relation ship with Owen as strictly police officer to suspect. (Vol. XXVIII T 732). Ultimately the charge was dropped because Owen left the area. (Vol. XXVIII T742-743). The next time Woods saw appellant was in May of 1984 at the Boca Raton police department. (Vol. XXVIII T 745). During their

conversations, the Slattery case was never mentioned. (Vol. XXVIII T 743, 746, 748). Appellant asked Woods if he could see his brother. (Vol. XXVIII T 750). There was never any promise or deal made regarding appellant's subsequent confession in exchange for a visit with his brother. (Vol. XXVIII T 777-778). Appellant initiated and controlled the conversations. (Vol. XXIX T 851-860, 871). Appellant talked to the police in the third person, attempting to ascertain what evidence the state had against him. (Vol. XXXI T 1094). Appellant would ask hypothetical questions regarding the availability of psychological help/mental hospital. At no time did Woods ever expressly or impliedly offer a deal for appellant's confession in exchange for mental health treatment. (Vol. XXVIII T 753, 845-852, Vol. XXXII 1100-1101).

The last witness to testify for the state was Captain Kevin McCoy of the Boca Raton police department. McCoy initially saw appellant for the first time in May of 1984. McCoy was investigating the murder of Georgianna Worden. (Vol. XXIX T 870). McCoy and appellant had discussions about Owen receiving psychological help while in prison for the crimes involving indecent exposure. (Vol. XXIX T 875). There were never any discussions or promises made that appellant could obtain mental health intervention in a hospital in lieu of being charged for to the murder of Karen Slattery, provided he confessed. McCoy

always told Owen that any deal regarding these charges had to be made between Owen's lawyer and Assistant State Attorney Paul Moyle. (T Vol. XXIX 877, 893,899-900, Vol. XXXI 1043-1044, 1066, 1092, 1101).

Duane Owen also testified at the motion to suppress hearing.<sup>2</sup> Appellant stated the told Woods about his psychological problems, including his desire to become a woman. He recounted their encounter in 1982 when his indecent exposure case was ultimately dropped and Woods in fact referred appellant to a doctor. Owen admitted that the police never guaranteed that he would receive the same outcome regarding these new charges. He just thought that he would. (Vol. XXXI T 1136, 1155, 1157, 1160-1161). He also conceded that he understood that if any deal were to be made it had to be made by the prosecutor. (Vol. XXXI T 1158-1159).

Appellant explained that when he made the two statements that he "did not want to talk about it" he was specifically referring to the murder charges. (Vol. XXXI T 1143). Appellant admitted that he had previously been Mirandized on fifteen occasions. (Vol. XXXI T 1166). He acknowledged that the rights card stated that appellant could cut off questioning at any time. (Vol. XXXI T 1166). He also acknowledged that on a prior

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  Although did not testify at the original motion to suppress in 1985, he did testify at the subsequent suppression hearing below.

occasion when he wanted to terminate the interview he stated that he did not want to talk anymore and the interview was terminated. (Vol. XXXI T 1166-1167). Appellant also conceded that prior to his actual confession he never invoked his right to an attorney because any attorney may advise him not to speak the police and he wanted to speak to the police. (Vol. XXXI T 1153-1154).

In addition to the presentation of witnesses at the suppression hearing, the trial court also reviewed the twenty-two hours of taped confessions. Referencing this Court's original finding of voluntariness, the trial court determined that Owen's confession remains voluntary. (Vol. XXXII T 1329-1330). Therein this Court explicitly stated:

Owen's more serious argument is that he was psychologically coerced into confessing by extended interrogation sessions, feigned empathy, flattery, and lengthy discourse by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In the original motion to suppress, Owen argued the almost issues he presented below. The state employed improper psychological coercion in a variety of ways. For instance the police, feigning friendship with Owen, discussed and the possibility of psychological problems professional help. The police also allowed Owen to visit with his brother upon request. (ROA#1 1375-1387). Additionally the state incorrectly stated the law when Sergeant McCoy told Owen that he could not be punished twice. (ROA#1 1383-1385, 1387-1389, 1417). Owen also stated that his remarks, I'd rather not talk about it" and I don't want to talk about it" were invocations of his right to remain silent. (ROA#1 1398-1401, 1406, 1419-1421). The trial court denied the motion to suppress in part finding that appellant was very knowledgeable regarding his Miranda warnings, there were no threats, coercion, or deals for hospital treatment or anything else. The confession was voluntary. (ROA#1 1425-1439).

the police. These interrogation sessions were videotaped and we have, as did the trial judge, the benefit of actually viewing and hearing them. It is clear from these tapes that the sessions were initiated by Owen, who was repeatedly advised of his rights to counsel and to remain silent. Moreover, he acknowledged on the tapes that he was completely familiar with his Miranda rights and knew them as well as the police officers. It is also clear that sessions, which encompassed six days, were not individually lengthy and that Owen was given refreshments, food, and breaks during the sessions. The tapes show that the confession was entirely voluntary under the amendment and that no improper coercion was employed. Martin v. Wainwright, F.2d 918, 924-28 (11th Cir.1985), modified, 781 F.2d 185 (11th Cir.), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 909, 107 S.Ct. 307, 93 L.Ed.2d 281 (1986).

Owen v. State, 560 So. 2d 207, 210 (Fla. 1990). Appellant failed to overcome the law of case or demonstrate that this Court's original ruling was incorrect. His attempt to relitigate the identical factual and legal argument presented in 1985 is precluded. Brunner; Hodges v. Marion Cty., 774 So. 2d 950, 952 (5th DCA 2001)(rejecting contention that law of the case is overcome simply by arguing that issue was wrongly decided in first appeal); Barry Hinnant v. Spottswood, 481 So. 2d 80, 82 (1st DCA 1986)(ruling that law of the case applies regardless of correctness of the legal ruling provided facts are unchanged); Mitezenmacher v. Mitezenmacher, 656 So. 2d 178, 179 (3rd DCA 1995)(same); Cf. Davis v. State, 648 So. 2d 107, 110 (Fla. 1995)(refusing to revisit issue of prosecutorial misconduct

since it was addresses in original appeal); Rose v. State, 26 Fla. L. Weekkly S209, 215 (Fla. April 5, 2001)(refusing to revisit challenge to the trial court's weighing process of aggravating factors as issue was adversely decide to appellant in original appeal).

Irrespective of appellant's "new testimony" it is clear that appellant's confession was voluntary and knowing. The trial court properly denied relief as the initial ruling of the trial court as well as this Court's determination that the confession was voluntary remains correct. Owen 560 So. 2d at 210. Relief must be denied. Johnson v. State, 696 So. 2d 326, 330 (Fla. 1997) (upholding denial of motion to suppress based on fact that defendant admitted at time of confession that he was not promised anything or threatened in anyway and such was testimony was consistent with that of the remaining witnesses who testified at the hearing); Martin v. Washington, 770 F.2d 918, 924-928 (11th Cir. 1986) (upholding voluntariness of confession as police investigative techniques were not unduly improper, there was no showing of psychological coercion and defendant was not unfamiliar with the legal system).

Regarding the separate issue of whether Owen ever made an unequivocal invocation of his right to remain silent relief was also denied. The trial court relied on this Court earlier ruling which specifically held the following:

Because Owen's responses were equivocal, (FN8) the State would have this Court reinstate Owen's convictions on the ground that a retrial is unnecessary in light of our decision. We are unwilling to go that Our prior decision which reversed Owen's convictions and remanded for a new trial is a final decision that is no longer subject to rehearing. With respect to this issue, Owen stands in the same position as any other defendant who has been charged with murder but who has not yet been tried. Just as it would be in the case of any other defendant, the admissibility of Owen's confession in his new trial will be subject to the Davis rationale that we adopt in this opinion. However, Owen's prior convictions cannot be retroactively reinstated.

State v. Owen, 696 So. 2d 715,720 (Fla. 1997). The trial court could find no legal reason to overcome this Court's determination. (Vol. XXXII T 1330-1332). The state asserts that the trial court's determination that his statements were not an unequivocal invocation of this right to remain silent were correct. Although given the opportunity to present new evidence or new law to overcome the law of the case doctrine, appellant was unable to do so. Indeed when determining the equivocal nature vel non of other remarks in other cases, this Court has repeated it's determination that Owen's remarks were equivocal. State v.Glaztamyer, 789 So. 2d 297, 302 n.8 (Fla.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> We reject Owen's argument that because we termed his comments to be "at least equivocal" in our earlier opinion we should now construe his comments as unequivocal.

2001); Walker v. State, 707 So. 2d 300, 310 (Fla. 1997); Almeida v. State, 737 So. 2d 520, 523 (Fla. 1999). Appellant has failed to overcome the doctrine of law of the case. This Court must affirm the trial court's rulings.

#### ISSUE II

# APPELLANT'S SENTENCE OF DEATH IS PROPORTIONAL

Owen alleges that his sentence of death is disproportionate for several reasons. Specifically he alleges the following: (1) the trial court erred in finding the aggravating factor of "heinous, atrocious, and cruel"<sup>4</sup>; (2) the trial court erred in finding the aggravating factor of "cold, calculated and premeditated."<sup>5</sup> (3) Owen's prior violent convictions were all committed within a short period of time, i.e., three months; (4) since the trial court found that the capital crime was committed while under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance,<sup>6</sup> the weight assessed the aggravators must be lessened. A review of the trial court's sentencing order and the overall facts of this case clearly establish that Owen's sentence of death is proportional.

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